

Fifth edition

Total Quality Management and Operational Excellence

Text with Cases

John S. Oakland, Robert J. Oakland and Michael A. Turner



Total Quality Management and Operational Excellence

The notion of 'Quality' in business performance has exploded since the publication of the first edition of this classic text in 1989. Today there is a plethora of performance improvement frameworks including lean–Six Sigma and the latest version of ISO 9001, offering an often confusing variety of ways to achieve business excellence.

Quality guru John Oakland's famous TQM model, in many ways a precursor to these frameworks, has evolved to become the ultimate holistic overview of performance improvement strategy. Incorporating the frameworks that succeeded it, the revised model redefines Quality by:

- Accelerating change
- Reducing cost
- Protecting reputation

The popular, practical, jargon-free writing style, along with ten supporting case studies, effortlessly ties the model to its real-life applications, making it easy to understand how to apply what you've learned to your practices and achieve sustainable competitive advantage.

Guiding readers through the language of TQM and OpEx and all their recent developments, including data analytics, this book sets out a clear way to manage change. This exciting update of a classic is all the busy student or professional will need to begin understanding how to manage Quality and achieve Operational Excellence.

John S. Oakland is Chairman of The Oakland Group and Head of its Research and Education Division. John is also Emeritus Professor of Business Excellence and Quality Management at Leeds University Business School, UK. Over the past 40 years he has researched, taught and consulted in all aspects of quality management, operational excellence, strategic process management and business improvement in thousands of organizations.

Robert J. Oakland is Director of The Oakland Group. Robert works across the globe helping organizations improve the quality, cost and delivery of their products and services. His expertise is in bridging the gap between technology, operations and leadership teams to solve complex quality issues and ensure real change happens.

Michael A. Turner is Head of Profession at the Chartered Quality Institute (CQI). Previously, he was the Director of The Oakland Group, working globally to help organizations design and implement programmes to improve the quality, cost and delivery of products and services. He has worked on a range of projects to help organizations solve complex quality and operational issues.



Total Quality Management and Operational Excellence

Text with Cases

Fifth edition

John S. Oakland, Robert J. Oakland and Michael A. Turner



Fifth edition published 2021 by Routledge 2 Park Square, Milton Park, Abingdon, Oxon, OX14 4RN

and by Routledge 52 Vanderbilt Avenue, New York, NY 10017

Routledge is an imprint of the Taylor & Francis Group, an informa business

© 2021 John S. Oakland, Robert J. Oakland and Michael A. Turner

The right of John S. Oakland, Robert J. Oakland and Michael A. Turner to be identified as authors of this work has been asserted by them in accordance with sections 77 and 78 of the Copyright, Designs and Patents Act 1988.

All rights reserved. No part of this book may be reprinted or reproduced or utilised in any form or by any electronic, mechanical, or other means, now known or hereafter invented, including photocopying and recording, or in any information storage or retrieval system, without permission in writing from the publishers.

Trademark notice: Product or corporate names may be trademarks or registered trademarks, and are used only for identification and explanation without intent to infringe.

First edition published by Butterworth-Heinemann 1989 Second edition published by Butterworth-Heinemann 1995 Third edition published by Routledge 2003 Fourth edition published by Routledge 2014

British Library Cataloguing-in-Publication Data A catalogue record for this book is available from the British Library

Library of Congress Cataloging-in-Publication Data Names: Oakland, John S., author. | Oakland, Robert James, author. | Turner, Michael A., 1959- author. Title: Total quality management and operational excellence: text with cases/John S. Oakland, Robert J. Oakland and Michael A. Turner. Description: Fifth edition. | Milton Park, Abingdon, Oxon; New York, NY: Routledge, 2020. | Includes bibliographical references and index. Identifiers: LCCN 2020008375 (print) | LCCN 2020008376 (ebook) | ISBN 9781138673403 (hardback) | ISBN 9781138673410 (paperback) | ISBN 9781315561974 (ebook) Subjects: LCSH: Total quality management. | Total quality management-Case studies. Classification: LCC HD62.15 .0173 2020 (print) | LCC HD62.15 (ebook) | DDC 658.4/013-dc23 LC record available at https://lccn.loc.gov/2020008375 LC ebook record available at https://lccn.loc.gov/2020008376 ISBN: 978-1-138-67340-3 (hbk)

ISBN: 978-1-138-67341-0 (pbk) ISBN: 978-1-315-56197-4 (ebk)

Typeset in Sabon by Apex CoVantage, LLC

Visit the eResources: www.routledge.com/9781138673410

Contents

List	t of figures	xi
List	t of tables	xvii
Pre	face	xix
Ра	rt I The foundations of TQM	1
1	Understanding quality	3
	Quality, competitiveness and customers	3
	Understanding and building the quality chains	5
	Managing quality	11
	Quality starts with understanding the needs	13
	Quality in all functions	15
	Digitalization and transformation – key operational challenges	16
	Chapter highlights	17
	References	19
2	Models and frameworks for Total Quality Management	21
	Early TQM frameworks	21
	Quality award models	24
	The four Ps and three Cs of TQM – a model for TQM	29
	Chapter highlights	31
	References	32
3	Leadership and commitment	35
	The Total Quality Management approach	35
	Commitment and policy	37
	Creating or changing the culture	39
	Effective leadership	43
	Excellence in leadership	47
	Leadership roles for quality professionals	50
	Chapter highlights	52

	References	53
	Part I discussion questions	55
Ра	Part II Planning	
4	Policy, strategy and goal deployment	59
	Integrating TQM into the policy and strategy	59
	The development of policies and strategies	74
	Chapter highlights	75
	References	76
5	Partnerships and resources	77
	Partnering and collaboration	77
	Global outsourcing	79
	Supply chain effectiveness in the global economies	80
	The role of procurement/purchasing in partnerships	82
	Just-in-Time (JIT) management	84
	Resources	86
	Collaborative Business Relationships (ISO 44001)	88
	Chapter highlights Peferences	89 01
	References	51
6	Design for quality	93
	Design, innovation and improvement	93
	The design process	94
	Quality function deployment (QFD) – the house of quality	99
	Specifications and standards	103
	Design quality in the service sector	105
	Failure mode, effect and criticality analysis (FMECA)	111
	Chanter highlights	115
	References	115
	Part II discussion questions	118
Ра	rt III Performance	119
7	Performance measurement frameworks	121
	Performance measurement and the improvement cycle	121
	Costs of quality	126
	The process model for quality costing	132
	A performance measurement framework (PMF)	137
	The implementation of performance measurement systems	146

	Building the links between customers, digitalization and quality	
	and operational excellence	148
	Chapter highlights	153
	References	155
8	Self-assessment, audits and reviews	157
	Frameworks for self-assessment	157
	Methodologies for self-assessment	167
	Capability Maturity Model Integration (CMMI) assessments	170
	Securing prevention by audit and review of the management	
	systems	172
	Internal and external management system audits and reviews	175
	Chapter highlights	177
	References	178
9	Benchmarking and change management	181
	The why and what of benchmarking	181
	The purpose and practice of benchmarking	183
	The role of benchmarking in change	187
	Communicating, managing stakeholders and lowering barriers	189
	Choosing benchmarking-driven change activities wisely	191
	A framework for organizational change	192
	Chapter highlights	195
	References	197
	Part III discussion questions	198
Pa	rt IV Processes	199
10	Process management	201
	The process management vision	201
	The Process Classification Framework and process modelling	205
	Process flowcharting	214
	Leadership, people and implementation aspects of process	
	management	220
	Chapter highlights	223
	Acknowledgement	224
	Note	224
	References	224
11	Process re-design/engineering	227
	Process re-design, re-engineering and lean systems	227
	Re-engineering the organization?	229

Contents

	What is BPR and what does it do?	230
	Processes for re-design	231
	Assumption busting	236
	BPR – the people and the leaders	238
	Chapter highlights	239
	References	241
12	Quality management systems	243
	Why a quality management system?	243
	ISO 9000 quality management systems	245
	Quality management principles and ISO 9000	247
	Quality management system design and ISO 9000	250
	Quality management system requirements	252
	Other management systems	269
	Acknowledgement	270
	Chapter highlights	271
	References	272
13	Continuous improvement – the basics	273
	Approaches, methodologies and tools	273
	The 'DRIVER' framework for continuous improvement	275
	The need for data and some basic tools and techniques	280
	Statistical process control (SPC)	289
	Chapter highlights	291
	References	292
14	Continuous improvement – more advanced, including	
	Taguchi and Six Sigma	295
	Some additional techniques for process design and improvement	295
	Taguchi methods for process improvement	300
	Six Sigma	302
	Chapter highlights	308
	References	309
15	Continuous improvement – lean systems	311
	Introduction to lean thinking	311
	Lean and Six Sigma	314
	Approaches to lean interventions	314
	Value stream mapping	318
	The building blocks of lean	322
	DRIVER: a context-dependant process view of lean (see also Chapter 13)	325
	Chapter highlights	330
	References	331
	Part IV discussion questions	332

Part V People	333
16 Human resource management	335
Strategic alignment of HRM policies	335
Effective communication	339
Employee empowerment and involvement	342
Training and development	343
Teams and teamwork	346
Organizing people for quality	346
Quality circles and Kaizen teams	350
Review, continuous improvement and conclusions	354
Chapter highlights	354
Acknowledgement	356
References	356
17 Culture change through teamwork	359
The need for teamwork	359
Running process management and improvement teams	361
Teamwork and action-centred leadership	365
Stages of team development	369
Personality types and the MBTI	373
Interpersonal relations – FIRO-B and the elements	375
Chapter highlights	385
Big five references	386
References	386
18 Communications, innovation and learning	389
Communicating the guality strategy	389
Communicating the quality message	392
Communication, learning, education and training	393
A systematic approach to education and training for quality	396
Starting where and for whom	398
Turning education and training into learning	400
The practicalities of sharing knowledge and learning	403
Chapter highlights	404
References	406
Part V discussion questions	407

19 Implementing TQM and Operational Excellence	411
Total quality and the management of change	411
Planning the implementation of TQM & OpEx	413

Part VI Implementation

409

Contents

Change curves and stages	116
Using consultants to support shange and implementation	410
Surfained improvement	421
Sustained improvement	425
	420
References	428
Part VI discussion questions	429
Case studies	431
Reading, using and analysing the cases	431
Further reading	432
Case study order	433
Case study 1 TQM objectives management process in Nissan	434
Case study 2 Sustainable business improvement in a global	
corporation – Shell Services	446
Case study 3 Lloyd's Register improvement programme – group	
business assurance	455
Case study 4 TQM implementation and policy deployment at	
STMicroelectronics	463
Case study 5 Business process management within TNT Express	473
Case study 6 Process management and improvement at the heart	
of Fujitsu UK and Ireland BMS	481
Case study 7 Simplifying business processes to secure competitive	
advantage for Car Care Plan	492
Case study 8 Building guality and operational excellence	
across (ABB)	496
Case study 9 The FADS (now Airbus Group) lean–Six Sigma	
approach to performance improvement	506
Case study 10 Establishing a canability for continuous quality	500
improvement in the NHS	512
	512

Index

517

Figures

1.1	The quality chains	7
1.2	Quality of design	9
1.3	How much time is spent doing the right things right?	11
1.4	A process – SIPOC	12
1.5	Dimensions of data quality	17
2.1	TQM model	24
2.2	Baldrige criteria for performance excellence framework	27
2.3	The simple model for improved performance	27
2.4	The EFQM Excellence Model	28
2.5	The EFQM Excellence Model 2019	29
2.6	The framework for Total Quality Management	30
2.7	The CQI quality leadership skills framework	31
3.1	Quality policy example 2	40
3.2	Vision framework for an organization	41
3.3	Examples of vision framework statements from organizations	
	in public and private sectors	41
3.4	Mission into action through strategies, CSFs and core processes	45
3.5	The helix of never-ending improvement	46
3.6	Quality in the 21st century	47
3.7	The quality professional – eight leadership roles	50
4.1	Vision framework for an organization	60
4.2	Interaction of corporate and divisional CSFs	63
4.3	CSF data sheet	64
4.4	Process/CSF matrix	66
4.5	Breakdown of core processes into subprocesses, activities	
	and tasks	66
4.6	The goal translation process	69
4.7	The goal translation process in practice	70
4.8	Implementation: top-down and bottom-up approach	71
4.9	CSF/core process reporting matrix	72
4.10	Deployment – what/how	72
5.1	Partnering collaboration radar	78
5.2	Simple set of sourcing criteria	81

6.1	The design and development process	97
6.2	Cross-functional new product creation process	98
6.3	'Throw it over the wall.' The design and development process	
	is sequential and walled into separate functions	100
6.4	The house of quality	101
6.5	The deployment of the 'voice of the customer' through quality	
	tables	103
6.6	The evolution of legal services	110
6.7	The value chain and design process	114
7.1	Increasing quality awareness and improvement activities	129
7.2	The drivers of CoQ	131
7.3	Costs of quality failure (CoQF)	131
7.4	Building the model: identify outputs and customers	133
7.5	Building the model: identify inputs and suppliers	134
7.6	Building the model: identify controls and resources	134
7.7	Present practice flowchart for acute admissions medical records	
	retrieval	135
7.8	Performance measurement framework	138
7.9	The balanced scorecard linking performance measures	141
7.10	CSF/core process reporting matrix	143
7.11	Performance dashboard and measurement framework	149
8.1	The EFQM Excellence Model	158
8.2	The EFQM Excellence Model – revised 2019	159
8.3	Structure of the criteria – enablers	160
8.4	Scoring within the self-assessment process: Chart 1, the enablers	161
8.5	Structure of the criteria: results	163
8.6	Scoring within the self-assessment process: Chart 2, the results	165
8.7	The RADAR 'screen'	166
8.8	The key steps in self-assessment	167
8.9	Organizational self-analysis matrix	168
8.10	CMMI – Maturity Levels	171
8.11	CMMI for development – process areas	172
8.12	A prevention program combining various elements of 'checking'	
	the system	173
9.1	The benchmarking methodology	186
9.2	Benchmarking; breakthrough and continuous improvement	188
9.3	The benchmarking change footprint	189
9.4	The organizational change framework	193
9.5	Carbon reduction strategy using figure of 8 change framework	194
9.6	Carbon reduction aspects mapped on figure of 8 framework	195
10.1	Cross-tunctional approach to managing core business processes	202
10.2	High level process framework	204
10.3	APQC Process Classification Framework – overview	205
10.4	IDEFØ model language	207
10.5	IDEFØ decomposition structure – sub-processes	208

10.6	A0 crime management	209
10.7	IDEFØ decomposition structure – sub-processes – for crime	
	management	210
10.8	A0 crime management child diagram	211
10.9	A01 – report crime	212
10.10	Summary of process mapping approaches	215
10.11	Flowcharting symbols	217
10.12	Original process for travel procedure	218
10.13	Improved travel procedure	219
10.14	Flowchart for SPC implementation	220
10.15	TNT Express Delivery Services – the perfect transaction process	221
11.1	Simplified process map	232
11.2	(a) Process redesign in finance, (b) cross-functional process design,	
	(c) organizational process redesign	233
11.3	Process organization	233
11.4	The seven phases of BPR	234
11.5	The assumption busting cycle	237
12.1	The systematic approach to process management	244
12.2	Schematic representation of the elements of a single process	248
12.3	Representation of the structure of this ISO 9001 in the PDCA cycle	249
12.4	Example of a Turtle Diagram for a business process step	257
12.5	Generic process resource diagram	266
12.6	Advanced version of the PDCA cycle applied to business processes	267
13.1	An overall approach structure for continuous improvement	274
13.2	CI approach to delivering OQ OT OC	274
13.3	DRIVER	276
13.4	Define	277
13.5	Review	277
13.6	Investigate	278
13.7	Verify	278
13.8	Execute	279
13.9	Reinforce	279
13.10	Frequency distribution for truck turn-round times (histogram)	282
13.11	Scatter diagram showing a negative correlation between two	
	variables	283
13.12	Incidents in the distribution of a chemical product	284
13.13	The cause and effect, Ishikawa or fishbone diagram	285
13.14	Nominal Group Technique (NGT)	286
13.15	Force field analysis	287
13.16	Comparison of cusum and <i>np</i> charts for the same data	288
14.1	The seven 'new tools' of quality design	296
14.2	Example of the interrelationship digraph	297
14.3	Example of the matrix diagram	298
14.4	T-matrix on company-wide training	299
14.5	The Six Sigma improvement model – DMAIC	303

Figures

14.6	A Six Sigma company	305
14.7	The Excellence Model and Six Sigma	307
15.1	Lean–Six Sigma	314
15.2	Value Stream 1	315
15.3	Value Stream 2	316
15.4	DMAIC and the Lean Toolkit	317
15.5	Value Stream Map (example 1)	318
15.6	Value Stream Map (example 2)	319
15.7	Carbon Stream Mapping (CSM) example	320
15.8	Field to Fork	321
15.9	Scoping the Value Stream	321
15.10	The four steps of VSM	322
15.11	The building blocks of lean	322
15.12	DRIVER: a pragmatic improvement approach	326
15.13	DRIVER: a six-phase approach to lean	329
16.1	Strategic alignment of HRM policies	336
16.2	Human resource process	337
16.3	The appraisal process	338
16.4	Best practice communications process	340
16.5	Multidirectional communications structure	342
16.6	A systematic model of training	344
16.7	The CQI Quality Leadership Skills Framework	347
16.8	Employee participation through the team structure	349
17.1	Independence to interdependence through teamwork	360
17.2	Adair's model of action-centred leadership	365
17.3	The leadership needs	366
17.4	Continuum of leadership behaviour	368
17.5	Situational leadership – progressive empowerment	200
17.0		369
17.6	leam stages and outcomes	3/1
17.7	Trained memory profiles (FIPO P)	3/5
17.8	The inclusion control and enormous cucle	3//
17.9	The inclusion, control and openness cycle	3/9
17.10	contribution, responding	270
17 11	The openness model. Part 2 Control: choice, influence, newer	2/2
17.11	The openness model, Part 2 Control. Choice, influence, power	200
17.12	thoughts and feelings with respect for self and others	380
17 13	The full openness model	381
17.13	The negative cycle	381
17.14	The extent to which corporate culture can block improvement	382
17 16	The five 'A' stages for teamwork	384
18 1	Communication model	304
18.2	The quality training cycle	394
18.3	Modes of knowledge conversion	401
		101

18.4	4 The knowledge management cycle		
19.1	The framework for implementation of TQM and Operational		
	Excellence	415	
19.2	The change curve	416	
19.3	The stages of change	417	
19.4	Overcoming resistance to change	419	
19.5	9.5 The organizational change framework		
19.6	A model for total quality and operational excellence	425	
19.7	TQM implementation – all done with the Deming continuous		
	improvement cycle	426	
C1.1	Nissan TQM approach	434	
C1.2	TQM promotion structure	435	
C1.3	Relationship between annual objectives/MTP and TQM	435	
C1.4	Objectives deployment	436	
C1.5	OSP sheet example	438	
C1.6	Master schedules	441	
C1.7	Communication – visual management	442	
C1.8	Visual management (control charts)	442	
C1.9	RF1 scorecard results	443	
C1.10	Review form 2 (RF2)	444	
C1.11	TQM objectives management process structure (PDCA-based)	445	
C2.1	Components of a customer-centric strategy	446	
C2.2	SQF Heritage	447	
C2.3	The SQF – a simple but powerful construct	447	
C2.4	Cascading the SQF down to best practice	448	
C2.5	Average baseline findings	449	
C2.6	Purpose elements dealing with issues of strategy and leadership	449	
C2.7	Business Improvement System (BIS)	450	
C2.8	SQF 20 questions to ensure a structured approach to any		
	improvement opportunity	452	
C2.9	Five Easy Questions!	453	
C3.1	Closed loop improvement cycle	456	
C3.2	Linking strategy to improvement – results maps	458	
C3.3	Linking strategy to improvement – critical activities	459	
C3.4	Unite	461	
C4.1	Example of objectives by different horizon	466	
C4.2	Policy deployment management process	467	
C4.3	The elements and practice of policy deployment in ST	468	
C4.4	Policy deployment tools (VMB – virtual management for		
	breakthrough)	469	
C4.5	Policy deployment terminology illustrated	470	
C4.6	'What' and 'How' goals (examples)	471	
C5.1	BPM five-level assessment framework	474	
C5.2	TNT Express business processes	474	
C5.3	Example assessment results against six key criteria	475	

C5.4	Elements of process excellence in TNT Express	477
C5.5	Life cycle of a customer doing business with TNT	478
C5.6	Maturity level RADAR diagram	479
C6.1	Embedding compliance – policies, processes and procedures	482
C6.2	UK&I committees and management boards	483
C6.3	BMS blueprint	484
C6.4	Process governance	485
C6.5	Process management	486
C6.6	The customer solution lifecycle model	486
C6.7	BMS processes	487
C6.8	Fujitsu process management cycle	490
C6.9	Standardization and Value-Add	491
C7.1	Car Care Plan – global reach	492
C7.2	Project Smart	493
C7.3	Example of a simplification	494
C8.1	World coverage by ABB	496
C8.2	ABB OpEx competence development overview	498
C8.3	High level process flow of programme	499
C8.4	Benefits of the approach at the various stages and levels	
	of the programme	500
C8.5	Overview of the ABB 4Q methodology	500
C8.6	Overview of the ABB 4Q certification and trainer/coaches	
	pathway	502
C8.7	Key elements of the Operational Excellence Programme	503
C8.8	A.R.O.W. approach to technical coaching	503
C8.9	The ABB CEO excellence awards framework	504
C9.1	EADS lean–Six Sigma programme	508
C9.2	EADS DRIVER methodology	509
C9.3	EADS L6S skill levels	509
C9.4	Proportion of Black Belt projects that have impacts on each	
	EADS activity	510
C10.1	Organizations' progress on a 'quality journey'	513
C10.2	Addressing four areas helps create a sustained culture of	
	continuous improvement	513
C10.3	DRIVER structured approach for improvement	514
C10.4	DRIVER in Primary Care	514
C10.5	Typical profile for Rol	515

Tables

2.1	The American quality gurus compared	23
3.1	Three stages of control mechanisms	42
3.2	The eight leadership roles defined	51
6.1	A classification of selected services	107
6.2	Grouping of similar services	108
6.3	SERVQUAL survey statements (Parasuraman et al.)	108
6.4	Probability and seriousness of failure and difficulty of detection	112
7.1	Building the model: allocate activities as COC or CONC	136
7.2	Building the model: process cost report	136
7.3	Process cost model: report summary	137
8.1	Following up errors	174
9.1	Reasons for benchmarking	182
9.2	Quantitative benchmarking in absenteeism	184
9.3	Is the organization ready for benchmarking?	185
9.4	Simple decision tool for choosing change activities	192
10.1	Summary of key process roles	221
14.1	The DMAIC steps	304
15.1	Lean Thinking – some myths and facts	312
15.2	Womack and Jones' 9-Step Approach	316
15.3	A ten-step service Kaizen methodology	325
15.4	DRIVER – a six-phase approach to lean	326
17.1	The FIRO-B interpersonal dimensions and aspects	376
17.2	Considerations, questions and outcomes for the FIRO-B dimensions	383
C2.1	The six steps in DRIVER	450
C2.2	Progress in business improvement areas	452
C4.1	Policy deployment's place in ST's overall TQM scheme of	
	continuous improvement	466
C4.2	Characteristics of different approaches to manage	
	different goals	470
C7.1	Example of impact areas with descriptions	494



Preface

When John Oakland wrote the first edition of Total Quality Management in 1988, there were very few books on the subject. Since its publication the interest in TQM and business performance improvement has exploded. There are now many texts on TQM and its various aspects, including business/operational excellence, business process management, Six Sigma and lean manufacturing-based approaches.

So much has been learned during the last 30 years of TQM implementation that it has been necessary to rewrite the book and revise it again and again. In essence this is the 7th edition since TQM was first published in 1989 (two editions of '*Total Quality Management*' and five editions of '*TQM* & OpEx: Text with Cases'). The content in this edition has been updated to reflect the developments, current understanding and experience gained of TQM and Operational Excellence. John has been joined in authoring this edition by his colleagues and Partners in The Oakland Group, Rob Oakland and Mike Turner.

Increasing the satisfaction of customers and other stakeholders through effective goal deployment, cost reduction, process improvement, people involvement and supply chain development has proved essential for organizations to stay in existence in the 21st century. We cannot avoid seeing how quality has developed into a most important competitive weapon, and many organizations have realized that total quality and its relatives is *the* way of managing for the future. Neglect of product and service quality can have disastrous consequences, as we have seen repeatedly in recent years around the globe. Consequential reputational damage is deeper and quicker now than ever before because information, opinion and ultimately consumer choice is affected at scale due to the nature of modern communication technologies. Of course, TQM and OpEx is far wider in its application than assuring product or service quality – it is a way of managing organizations to improve every aspect of performance, both internally and externally.

This book is about how to manage in a total quality way. It is structured in the main around four parts of what has become known as the 'Oakland model for TQM' – improving *Performance* through better *Planning* and management of *People* and *Processes* in which they work. The core of the model will always be performance in the eyes of the customer, but this must be extended to include performance measures for all stakeholders. This core still needs to be surrounded by *Commitment* to quality and meeting customer requirements, *Communication* of the quality message and recognition of the need in many cases to change the *Culture* of most organizations to create total quality. These three Cs are the 'soft foundations' that must encase the 'hard management necessities' of the four Ps.

Under these headings the essential steps for the successful implementation of TQM are set out in what we hope is still a meaningful and practical way. The book should guide the reader through the language of TQM and OpEx and all the recent developments and set down a clear way to manage change – new material has been included on these aspects. The Oakland 'DRIVER' improvement methodology is a major contribution to this.

Many of the new approaches related to quality and improving performance appear to present different theories. In reality they are talking the same 'language' but may use different 'dialects'; the basic principles of defining quality and taking it into account throughout all activities of the 'business' are common. Quality has to be managed; it does not just happen. Understanding and commitment by senior management, effective leadership, teamwork, good process management and sound improvement methods and tools are fundamental parts of the recipe for success. We have tried to use our collective extensive research and consultancy experience to take what, to many, is a jigsaw puzzle and assemble a comprehensive, pragmatic, working model for total quality. Moreover, we have tried to show how holistic TQM and OpEx now is, embracing the most recent models of 'excellence,' Six Sigma, lean and a host of other management methods and teachings.

To support the 19 chapters of text are ten case studies. We have again presented these together at the end of the book as many overlap different topics in the chapters but have offered guidance on which parts are illustrated by the particular cases.

The book should meet the requirements of the increasing number of 'students' who need to understand the part TQM and Operational Excellence may play in their studies of science, engineering or business and management. We hope that those engaged in the pursuit of professional qualifications in the management of quality, such as the Chartered Quality Institute, the American Society for Quality and similar ones around the world, will make this book an essential part of their library. With its companion book, *Statistical Process Control* (now in its 7th edition), *TQM and OpEx: Text with Cases* documents a comprehensive approach, one that has been used successfully in many organizations across the globe.

The authors would like to thank our colleagues in The Oakland Group for the sharing of ideas and help in their development. The book is the result of many man-years of collaboration in assisting organizations to introduce good methods of management and embrace the concepts of total quality. We are also most grateful to the busy senior managers in the case study organizations for their contributions in pulling together the cases and for obtaining permission for their publication.

> John S. Oakland Robert J. Oakland Michael A. Turner



The foundations of TQM

Good order is the foundation of all good things.

Edmund Burke, 1729–1797, from 'Reflections on the Revolution in France'







Understanding quality

Quality, competitiveness and customers

In recent times, organizations have experienced a period of great change in their markets and operations. International as well as domestic competition has meant that many organizations have faced an increasingly turbulent and hostile environment. The pace of technological change has quickened to lightning speed, customers have become more demanding and competition has become more intense and sophisticated. Regulators and consumer groups have also added to these pressures.

Good quality performance has always been a key strategic factor for business success, but it is now more than ever required to compete successfully in the global markets of the 21st century. Many organizations have adopted a range of improvement approaches in response to these forces. We have seen the growing adoption of a range of quality and management systems standards, the emergence and development of total quality management (TQM), business process re-engineering (BPR), business excellence, performance excellence, lean thinking, Six Sigma, statistical process control, etc, etc. The battle-weary could be excused for taking a rather jaundiced view of this ever-lengthening list of 'quality' offers, but, by and large, they share many of the principles and elements that are found in TQM.

Whatever type of organization you work in – an online retailer, a bank, a hospital, a university, an airline, an insurance company, a software developer, local government, a factory – competition is rife: competition for customers, for students, for patients, for resources, for funds. Any organization basically competes on its *reputation* – for quality, reliability, price and delivery – and most people recognize that quality is the key to achieving sustained competitive advantage. If you doubt that, just look at the way some organizations, even whole industries in certain countries, have used quality strategically to win and retain customers, obtain business resources or funding and be competitive. Moreover, this sort of attention to quality improves performance in reliability, delivery and price.

Reputations for poor quality last for a long time, and a good or bad reputations can become national or international. Yet the management of quality can be learned and used to improve reputation. For any organization, there are several aspects of reputation that are important:

- 1 It is built upon the competitive elements of being 'On-Quality; On-Time; On-Cost'
- 2 Once an organization acquires a poor reputation for product or service quality or reliability, it takes a very long time to change it
- 3 Reputations, good or bad, can quickly become national reputations
- 4 The management of the competitive weapons, such as quality, can be learned like any other skill and used to turn round a poor reputation

Before anyone will buy the idea that quality is an important consideration, they would have to know what was meant by it.

What is quality?

Quality starts with understanding customer needs and ends when those needs are satisfied. Pointing to his wrist, John asks a class of students – undergraduates, postgraduates, experienced managers, 'Is this a quality watch?' It matters not who is in the group, the answers vary:

- 'No, it's made in Japan'
- 'No, it's cheap'
- 'No, the face is scratched'
- 'How reliable is it?'
- 'I wouldn't wear it'

John's watch has been insulted all over the world – London, New York, Paris, Sydney, Dubai, Brussels, Amsterdam, Leeds! Clearly, the quality of a watch depends on what the wearer requires from a watch – perhaps a piece of jewellery to give an impression of wealth; a time-piece that gives the required data, including the date, in digital form or one with the ability to perform at 50 metres under the sea? These requirements determine the quality.

Quality is often used to signify 'excellence' of a product or service – people talk about 'Rolls-Royce quality' and 'top quality.' In some manufacturing companies the word may be used to indicate that a piece of material or equipment conforms to certain physical dimensional characteristics, often set down in the form of a particularly 'tight' specification. In a hospital it might be used to indicate some sort of 'professionalism.' If we are to define quality in a way that is useful in its *management*, then we must recognize the need to include in the assessment of quality the true requirements of the 'customer' – the needs and expectations.

Quality then is simply *meeting the customer requirements*, and this has been expressed in many ways by other authors:

- 'Fitness for purpose or use' Juran, an early doyen of quality management;
- 'The totality of features and characteristics of a product or service that bear on its ability to satisfy stated or implied needs' BS 4778. 1987 (ISO 8402, 1986) *Quality Vocabulary; Part* 1, *International Terms;*
- 'Quality should be aimed at the needs of the consumer, present and future' Deming, another early doyen of quality management;

- 'The total composite product and service characteristics of marketing, engineering, manufacture and maintenance through which the product and service in use will meet the expectation by the customer' – Feigenbaum, the first man to publish a book with 'Total Quality' in the title;
- 'Conformance to requirements' Crosby, an American consultant famous in the 1980s;
- 'Degree to which a set of inherent characteristics fulfils requirements' ISO (EN) 9001: 2015 Quality Management Systems fundamentals and vocabulary.

Another word that we should define properly is *reliability*. 'Why do you buy a Japanese car?' 'Quality and reliability' comes back as the answer. The two are used synonymously, often in a totally confused way. Clearly, part of the acceptability of a product or service will depend on its ability to function satisfactorily *over a period of time*, and it is this aspect of performance that is given the name *reliability*. It is the ability of the product or service to *continue* to meet the customer requirements. Reliability ranks with quality in importance, since it is a key factor in many purchasing decisions where alternatives are being considered. Many of the general management issues related to achieving product or service quality are also applicable to reliability.

It is important to realize that the 'meeting the customer requirements' definition of quality is not restrictive to the functional characteristics of products or services. Anyone with children knows that the quality of some of the products they purchase is more associated with *satisfaction in ownership* than some functional property. This is also true of many items, from antiques to certain items of clothing. The requirements for status symbols account for the sale of some executive cars, certain bank accounts and charge cards and even hospital beds! The requirements are of paramount importance in the assessment of the quality of any product or service.

By *consistently* meeting customer requirements, we can move to a different plane of satisfaction – *delighting the customer*. There is no doubt that many organizations have so well ordered their capability to meet their customers' requirements, time and time again, that this has created a reputation for 'excellence.' A development of this thinking regarding customers and their satisfaction is *customer loyalty*, an important variable in an organization's success. Research shows that focus on customer loyalty can provide several commercial advantages:

- Customers cost less to retain than acquire;
- The longer the relationship with the customer, the higher the profitability;
- A loyal customer will commit more spend to its chosen supplier;
- About half of new customers come through referrals from existing clients (indirectly reducing acquisition costs).

Many companies use measures of customer loyalty to identify customers who are 'completely satisfied,' would 'definitely recommend' and would 'definitely repurchase.' The so-called net promoter score (NPS) is one such measure, often quoted on a scale from 1 (lowest score) to 10.

Understanding and building the quality chains

The ability to meet the customer requirements is vital, not only between two separate organizations but within the same organization.

When the air stewardess pulled back the curtain across the aisle and set off with a trolley full of breakfasts to feed the early morning travellers on the short domestic flight into an international airport, she was not thinking of quality problems. Having stopped at the row of seats marked 1ABC, she passed the first tray onto the lap of the man sitting by the window. By the time the second tray had reached the lady beside him, the first tray was on its way back to the hostess with a complaint that the bread roll and jam were missing. She calmly replaced it in her trolley and reached for another – which also had no roll and jam.

The calm exterior of the hostess began to evaporate as she discovered two more trays without a complete breakfast. Then she found a good one and, thankfully, passed it over. This search for complete breakfast trays continued down the aeroplane, causing inevitable delays, so much so that several passengers did not receive their breakfasts until the plane had begun its descent. At the rear of the plane could be heard the mutterings of discontent. 'Aren't they slow with breakfast this morning?' 'What is she doing with those trays?' 'We will have indigestion by the time we've landed.'

The problem was perceived by many on the aeroplane to be one of delivery or service. They could smell food but they weren't getting any of it, and they were getting really wound up! The air hostess, who had suffered the embarrassment of being the purveyor of defective product and service, was quite wound up and flushed herself, as she returned to the curtain and almost ripped it from the hooks in her haste to hide. She was heard to say through clenched teeth, 'What a terrible mess!'

A problem of quality? Yes, of course, requirements not being met, but where? The passengers or customers suffered from it on the aircraft, but in part of another organization there was a man whose job it was to assemble the breakfast trays. On this day the system had broken down – perhaps he ran out of bread rolls, perhaps he was called away to refuel the aircraft (it was a small airport!), perhaps he didn't know or understand, perhaps he didn't care.

Three hundred miles away in a chemical factory . . . 'What the hell is Quality Control doing? We've just sent 15,000 litres of lawn weed killer to CIC and there it is back at our gate – they've returned it as out of spec.' This was followed by an avalanche of verbal abuse, which will not be repeated here but poured all over the shrinking Quality Control Manager as he backed through his office door, followed by a red faced Technical Director advancing menacingly from behind the bottles of sulphuric acid racked across the adjoining laboratory.

'Yes, what is QC doing?' thought the Production Manager, who was behind a door two offices along the corridor but could hear the torrent of language now being used to beat the QC man into an admission of guilt. He knew the poor devil couldn't possibly do anything about the rubbish that had been produced except test it, but why should he volunteer for the unpleasant and embarrassing ritual now being experienced by his colleague – for the second time this month. No wonder the QC manager had been studying the middle pages of the *Telegraph* on Thursday – what a job!

Do you recognize these two situations? Do they not happen every day of the week – possibly every minute somewhere in manufacturing or the service industries? Is it any different in banking, insurance, health services? The inquisition of checkers and testers is the last bastion of desperate systems trying in vain to catch mistakes, stop defectives, hold lousy materials, before they reach the external customer – and woe betide the idiot who lets them pass through!

Two everyday incidents, but why are events like these so common? The answer is the acceptance of one thing – *failure*. Not doing it right the first time at every stage of the process.

Why do we accept failure in the production of artefacts, the provision of a service or even the transfer of information? In many walks of life we do not accept it. We do not say, 'Well, the nurse is bound to drop the odd baby in a thousand – it's just going to happen.' We do not accept that!



Customer – Outside organization



Figure 1.1 The quality chains

In each department, each office, even each household, there is a series of suppliers and customers. The personal assistant is a supplier to the boss. Are the requirements being met? Does the boss receive error-free information set out as required, when it is needed? If so, then we have a quality PA service. Does the air steward receive from the supplier to the airline the correct food trays in the right quantity, at the right time?

Throughout and beyond all organizations, whether they be manufacturing concerns, banks, retail outlets, universities, hospitals or hotels, there is a series of *quality chains* of customers and suppliers (Figure 1.1) that may be broken at any point by one person or one piece of equipment not meeting the requirements of the customer, internal or external. The interesting point is that this failure usually finds its way to the interface between the organization and its outside customers, and the people who operate at that interface – like the air hostess – usually experience the ramifications. The concept of internal and external customers-suppliers forms the *core* of good or 'total' quality management.

A great deal is written and spoken about employee motivation as a separate issue. In fact the key to motivation *and* quality is for everyone in the organization to have well-defined customers – an extension of the word beyond the outsider that actually purchases or uses the ultimate product or service to anyone to whom an individual gives a part, a service, information – in other words the results of their work.

Quality has to be managed – it will not just happen. Clearly it must involve everyone in the process and be applied throughout the organization. Many people in the support functions of organizations never see, experience or touch the products or services that their organizations buy or provide, but they do handle or produce things like purchase orders or invoices. If every fourth invoice carries at least one error, what image of quality is transmitted to customers?

Failure to meet the requirements in any part of a quality chain has a way of multiplying, and a failure in one part of the system creates problems elsewhere, leading to yet more failure, more problems and so on. The price of quality is the continual examination of the requirements and our ability to meet them. This alone will lead to a 'continuing improvement' philosophy. The benefits of making sure the requirements are met at every stage, every time, are truly enormous in terms of increased competitiveness and market share, reduced costs, improved productivity and delivery performance and the elimination of waste.

Meeting the requirements

If quality is meeting the customer requirements, then this has wide implications. The requirements may include availability, delivery, reliability, maintainability and cost-effectiveness, among many other features. The first item on the list of things to do is find out what the requirements are. If we are dealing with customer-supplier relationship crossing two organizations, then the supplier must establish a 'marketing' activity or process charged with this task.

Marketing processes establish the true requirements for the product or service. These must be communicated properly throughout the organization in the form of specifications.

The marketing process must, of course, understand not only the needs of the customer but also the ability of the supplying organization to meet them. If Mike's customer places a requirement on him to run 1,500 metres in four minutes, then he knows he is unable to meet this demand, unless something is done to improve his running performance. Of course, he may never be able to achieve this requirement.

Within organizations, between internal customers and suppliers, the transfer of information regarding requirements is frequently poor to totally absent. How many executives really bother to find out what their customers' – their PA's or secretaries' – requirements are? Can their handwriting be read, do they leave clear instructions, does the PA/secretary always know where the boss is? Equally, does the PA/secretary establish what the boss needs – errorfree word processing, clear messages, a tidy office? Internal supplier–customer relationships are often the most difficult to manage in terms of establishing the requirements. To achieve quality throughout an organization, each person in the quality chain must interrogate every interface as follows:

Customers

- Who are my immediate customers?
- What are their true requirements?
- How do or can I find out what the requirements are?
- How can I measure my ability to meet the requirements?
- Do I have the necessary capability to meet the requirements? (If not, then what must change to improve the capability?)
- Do I continually meet the requirements? (If not, then what prevents this from happening, when the capability exists?)
- How do I monitor changes in the requirements?

Suppliers

- Who are my immediate suppliers?
- What are my true requirements?
- How do I communicate my requirements?

- How do I or they measure their ability to meet the requirements?
- Do my suppliers have the capability to meet the requirements?
- Do my suppliers continually meet the requirements?
- How do I inform them of changes in the requirements?

The measurement of capability is extremely important if the quality chains are to be formed within and without an organization. Each person in the organization must also realize that the supplier's needs and expectations must be respected if the requirements are to be fully satisfied.

To understand how quality may be built into a product or service, at any stage, it is necessary to examine the two distinct but interrelated aspects of quality:

- Quality of design
- Quality of conformance to design.

Quality of design

We are all familiar with the old story of the tree swing (Figure 1.2), but in how many places in how many organizations is this chain of activities taking place? To discuss the quality of -say - a chair it is necessary to describe its purpose. What is it to be



Figure 1.2 Quality of design

used for? If it is to be used for watching TV for three hours at a stretch, then the typical office chair will not meet this requirement. The difference between the quality of the TV chair and the office chair is not a function of how it was manufactured but its *design*.

Quality of design is a measure of how well the product or service is designed to achieve the agreed requirements. The beautifully presented gourmet meal will not necessarily please the recipient if he or she is travelling on a fast inter-city road and has stopped for a quick bite to eat. The most important feature of the design, with regard to achieving quality, is the specification. Specifications must also exist at the internal supplier–customer interfaces, if one is to achieve a total quality performance. For example, the company lawyer asked to draw up a contract by the sales manager requires a specification as to its content:

- 1 Is it a sales, processing or consulting type of contract?
- 2 Who are the contracting parties?
- 3 In which countries are the parties located?
- 4 What are the products involved (if any)?
- 5 What is the volume?
- 6 What are the financial aspects, e.g. price escalation?

The financial controller must issue a specification of the information he or she needs and when, to ensure that foreign exchange fluctuations do not cripple the company's finances. The business of sitting down and agreeing on a specification at every interface will clarify the true requirements and capabilities. It is the vital first stage for a successful quality effort.

There must be a corporate understanding of the organization's quality position in the market place. It is not sufficient that marketing specifies the product or service 'because that is what the customer wants.' There must be an agreement that the operating departments can achieve that requirement. Should they be incapable of doing so, then one of two things must happen: either the organization finds a different position in the market place or substantially changes the operational facilities.

Quality of conformance to design

This is the extent to which the product or service achieves the quality of design. What the customer receives should conform to the design, and operating costs are tied firmly to the level of conformance achieved. Quality cannot be inspected into products or services; the customer satisfaction must be designed into the whole system. The conformance check then makes sure that things go according to plan.

A high level of inspection or checking at the end is often indicative of attempts to inspect in quality. This may well result in spiralling costs and decreasing viability. The area of conformance to design is concerned largely with the quality performance of the actual operations. It may be salutary for organizations to use the simple matrix of Figure 1.3 to assess how much time they spend doing the right things right. A lot of people, often through no fault of their own, spend a good proportion of the available time doing the right things wrong. There are people (and organizations) who spend time doing the wrong things very well and even those who occupy themselves doing the wrong things wrong, which can be very confusing!

Understanding quality

Managing quality

Every day two men who work in a certain factory scrutinize the results of the examination of the previous day's production and begin the ritual battle over whether the material is suitable for despatch to the customer. One is called Production Manager, the other Quality Control Manager. They argue and debate the evidence before them, the rights and wrongs of the specification, and each tries to convince the other of the validity of his argument. Sometimes they nearly start fighting.

This ritual is associated with trying to answer the question, '*Have we done the job correctly?*', correctly being a flexible word, depending on the interpretation given to the specification on that particular day. This is not quality *control*; it is *detection* – wasteful detection of bad product before it hits the customer. There is still a belief in some quarters that to achieve quality we must check, test, inspect or measure – the ritual pouring on of quality at the end of the process. This is nonsense, but it is still practised. In the office one finds staff checking other people's work because they expect errors, validating computer data, checking invoices, word processing, etc. There is also quite a lot of looking for things, chasing why things are late, apologizing to customers for errors, lateness and so on. Waste, waste!

To get away from the natural tendency to rush into the detection mode, it is necessary to ask different questions in the first place. We should not ask whether the job has been done correctly, we should ask first '*Are we capable of doing the job correctly?*' This question has wide implications, and this book is devoted largely to the various activities necessary to ensure that the answer is yes. However, we should realize straight away that such an answer will only be obtained by means of satisfactory methods, materials, equipment, skills and instruction and a satisfactory 'process.'





Quality and processes

As we have seen, quality chains can be traced right through the business or service processes used by any organization. A process is the transformation of a set of inputs into outputs that satisfy customer needs and expectations, in the form of products, information or services. Everything we do is a process, so in each area or function of an organization there will be many processes taking place. For example, a finance department may be engaged in budgeting processes, accounting processes, salary and wage processes, costing processes, etc. Each process in each department or area can be analyzed by an examination of the inputs and outputs. This will determine some of the actions necessary to improve quality. There are also cross-functional processes.

The output from a process is that which is transferred to somewhere or to someone – the *customer*. Clearly to produce an output that meets the requirements of the customer, it is necessary to define, monitor and control the inputs to the process, which in turn may be supplied as output from an earlier process. At every supplier–customer interface then there resides a transformation process (Figure 1.4), and every single task throughout an organization must be viewed as a process in this way. The so-called voice of the customer is a fundamental requirement to good process management, and the 'voice of the process' provides key



Figure 1.4 A process – SIPOC

feedback to the supply side of the process equation: right Suppliers + correct Inputs = correct Outputs + satisfied Customers (SIPOC).

Once we have established that our process is capable of meeting the requirements, we can address the next question, 'Do we continue to do the job correctly?' which brings a requirement to monitor the process and the controls on it. If we now re-examine the first question, 'Have we done the job correctly?' we can see that, if we have been able to answer the other two questions with a yes, we must have done the job correctly. Any other outcome would be illogical. By asking the questions in the right order, we have removed the need to ask the 'inspection' question and replaced a strategy of detection with one of prevention. This concentrates attention on the front end of any process – the inputs – and changes the emphasis to making sure the inputs are capable of meeting the requirements of the process. This is a managerial responsibility and is discharged by efficiently organizing the inputs and its resources and controlling the processes.

These ideas apply to every transformation process; they all must be subject to the same scrutiny of the methods, the people, skills, equipment and so on to make sure they are correct for the job. A person giving a conference presentation whose audio/visual equipment will not focus correctly or whose material is not appropriate, will soon discover how difficult it is to make a presentation that meets the requirements of the audience.

In every organization there are some very large processes – groups of smaller processes often called *core business processes*. These are activities the organization must carry out especially well if its mission and objectives are to be achieved. The area will be dealt with in some detail later on in the book. It is crucial if the management of quality is to be integrated into the strategy for the organization.

The *control* of quality can only take place at the point of operation or production – where the letter is word-processed, the sales call made, the patient admitted or the chemical manufactured. The act of *inspection is not quality control*. When the answer to 'Have we done the job correctly?' is given indirectly by answering the questions of capability and control, then we have *assured* quality, and the activity of checking becomes one of *quality assurance* – making sure that the product or service represents the output from an effective *system* to ensure capability and control. It is frequently found that organizational barriers between functional or departmental empires have encouraged the development of testing and checking of services or products in a vacuum, without interaction with other departments.

- **Quality control** then is essentially the activities and techniques employed to achieve and maintain the quality of a product, process or service. It includes a monitoring activity but is also concerned with finding and eliminating causes of quality problems so that the requirements of the customer are continually met.
- **Quality assurance** is broadly the prevention of quality problems through planned and systematic activities (including documentation). These will include the establishment of a good quality management system and the assessment of its adequacy, the audit of the operation of the system and the review of the system itself.

Quality starts with understanding the needs

The marketing processes of an organization must take the lead in establishing the true requirements for the product or service. Having determined the need, the organization should define the market sector and demand, to determine such product or service features as grade,

price, quality, timing, etc. For example, a major hotel chain thinking of opening a new hotel or refurbishing an old one will need to consider its location and accessibility before deciding whether it will be predominantly a budget, first-class, business or family hotel.

The organization will also need to establish customer requirements by reviewing the market needs, particularly in terms of unclear or unstated expectations or preconceived ideas held by customers. It is central to identify the key characteristics that determine the suitability of the product or service in the eyes of the customer. This may, of course, call for the use of market research techniques, data-gathering and analysis of customer complaints. If necessary, quasi-quantitative methods may be employed, giving proxy variables that can be used to grade the characteristics in importance and decide in which areas superiority over competitors exists. It is often useful to compare these findings with internal perceptions.

Excellent communication between customers and suppliers is the key to quality performance; it will eradicate the 'demanding nuisance/idiot' view of customers, which even now still pervades some organizations. Poor communications often occur in the supply chains between organizations, when neither party realizes how poor they are. Feedback from both customers and suppliers needs to be improved where dissatisfied customers and suppliers do not communicate their problems. In such cases, 'non-conformance' of purchased products or services is often due to customers' inability to communicate their requirements clearly. If these ideas are also used within an organization, then the internal supplier/customer interfaces will operate much more smoothly.

All the efforts devoted to finding the nature and timing of the demand will be pointless if there are failures in communicating the requirements throughout the organization promptly, clearly and accurately. The marketing processes should be capable of producing a formal statement or outline of the requirements for each product or service. This constitutes a preliminary set of *specifications*, which can be used as the basis for service or product design. The information requirements include:

- 1 Characteristics of performance and reliability these must make reference to the conditions of use and any environmental factors that may be important;
- 2 Aesthetic characteristics, such as style, colour, smell, task, feel, etc.;
- 3 Any obligatory regulations or standards governing the nature of the product or service.

The organization must also establish systems for feedback of customer information and reaction, and these systems should be designed on a continuous monitoring basis. Any information pertinent to the product or service should be collected and collated, interpreted, analyzed and communicated, to improve the response to customer experience and expectations. These same principles must also be applied inside the organization if continuous improvement at every transformation process interface is to be achieved. If one function or department in a company has problems recruiting the correct sort of staff, for example, and HR has not established mechanisms for gathering, analyzing, and responding to information on new employees, then frustration and conflict will replace communication and co-operation.

One aspect of the analysis of market demand that extends back into the organization is the review of market readiness of a new product or service. Items that require some attention include assessment of:

- 1 The suitability of the distribution and customer-service processes;
- 2 Training of personnel in the 'field';
- 3 Availability of 'spare parts' or support staff;
- 4 Evidence that the organization is capable of meeting customer requirements.

All organizations receive a wide range of information from customers through invoices, payments, requests for information, complaints, responses to advertisements and promotion, etc. An essential component of a 'Customer Relationship Management' system for the analysis of demand is that this data is channelled quickly into the appropriate areas for action and, if necessary, response.

There are various techniques of research, which are outside the scope of this book but have been well-documented elsewhere. It is worth listing some of the most common and useful general methods that should be considered, both externally and internally:

- Surveys questionnaires, etc.;
- Panel or focus group techniques;
- In-depth interviews;
- Brainstorming and discussions;
- Role rehearsal and reversal;
- Interrogation of trade associations.

The number of methods and techniques for researching the market is limited only by imagination and funds. The important point to stress is that the supplier, whether the internal individual or the external organization, keeps very close to the customer. Good research, coupled with analysis of CRM data, is an essential part of finding out what the requirements are and breaking out from the obsession with inward scrutiny that bedevils quality. The rapid developments in computing capability, artificial intelligence and machine capability have, of course, enabled these processes to function rapidly and 'automatically.' The inherent danger is the absence of human connection with such systems, and we have all seen the nonsensical outputs that can result.

Quality in all functions

For an organization to be truly effective, each component of it must work properly together. Each part, each activity, each person in the organization affects and is in turn affected by others. Errors have a way of multiplying, and failure to meet the requirements in one part or area creates problems elsewhere, leading to yet more errors, yet more problems and so on. The benefits of getting it right the first time everywhere are enormous.

Everyone experiences – almost accepts – problems in working life. This causes people to spend a large part of their time on useless activities – correcting errors, looking for things, finding out why things are late, checking suspect information, rectifying and reworking, apologizing to customers for mistakes, poor quality and lateness. The list is endless, and it is estimated that about one-third of our efforts are still wasted in this way. In the service sector it can be much higher.

Quality, the way we have defined it as meeting the customer requirements, gives people in different functions of an organization a common language for improvement. It enables all the people, with different abilities and priorities, to communicate readily with one another, in pursuit of a common goal. When business and industry were local, the craftsman could manage more or less on his own. Business is now so complex and employs so many different specialist skills that everyone has to rely on the activities of others in doing their jobs.

Some of the most exciting applications of Q&OpEx have materialized from groups of people that could see little relevance when first introduced to its concepts. Following training, many different parts of organizations can show the usefulness of the techniques. Sales staff

can monitor and increase successful sales calls; office staff have used the methods to prevent errors in computing, including improving inputs; customer-service people have monitored and reduced complaints; distribution has controlled lateness and disruption in deliveries.

It is worthy of mention that the first points of contact for some outside customers are the telephone operator, the security people at the gate or the person in reception. Equally the e-business, paperwork and support services associated with the product, such as websites, invoices and sales literature and their handlers, must match the needs of the customer. Clearly Q&OpEx cannot be restricted to the 'production' or 'operations' areas without losing great opportunities to gain maximum benefit.

Managements that rely heavily on exhortation of the workforce to 'do the right job right the first time' or 'accept that quality is your responsibility' will not only fail to achieve quality but may create division and conflict. These calls for improvement infer that faults are caused only by the workforce and that problems are departmental or functional when, in fact, the opposite is true – most problems are inter-departmental. The commitment of all members of an organization is a requirement of 'organization-wide quality improvement.' Everyone must work together at every interface to achieve improved performance, and that can only happen if the top management is really committed and embeds it into the fabric of the business.

Digitalization and transformation – key operational challenges

In today's world, speed and the ability to adapt to changing market conditions are a significant challenge for business. New technologies and innovation acceleration are disrupting all traditional industries and markets. Start-ups no longer have major barriers to entry, computing power is accelerating, and business models are being disrupted in just a few months, causing massive pressures on margins.

The threat of new competition, rising customer expectations, expanding markets and digitalization are the key drivers of change. These are driving forces behind the ever-increasing need for Quality and Operational Excellence, especially for end-to-end business transformation and rapid, agile, flexible solution offerings and execution.

The following are the key Q&OpEx challenges executives face that we have gathered from our research in The Oakland Institute:

- Keeping up with, adapting and embracing new technologies and new business models;
- Rethinking operations end-to-end, incorporating digitalization/new advanced technologies along the whole value chain;
- Driving corporate culture transformation to create a culture of quality and operational excellence with innovation and continuous improvement;
- Implementing effective change management programs;
- Leadership understanding, buy-in, support and sponsorship from *all* leaders is critical Q&OpEx needs commitment; resources and this cannot be optional.

One key aspect that needs serious attention in the new data driven world, of course, is the quality of data, which has six dimensions (Figure 1.5).

These six dimensions of data quality can all impact both the operation and the ability to analyze data. Data quality impacts more than just analytics – it is essential if the business is to develop strong and robust reporting or relatively 'simple' descriptive or retrospective analytics.



Chapter highlights

Quality, competitiveness and customers

- The reputation enjoyed by an organization is built by quality, reliability, delivery and price. Quality is perhaps the most important of these competitive weapons;
- Reputations for poor quality last for a long time, and good or bad reputations can become national or international. The management of quality can be learned and used to improve reputation;
- Quality is meeting the customer requirements, and this is not restricted to the functional characteristics of the product or service;
- Reliability is the ability of the product or service to continue to meet the customer requirements over time;
- Organizations 'delight' the customer by consistently meeting customer requirements and then achieve a reputation of 'excellence' and customer loyalty.

Understanding and building the quality chains

• Throughout all organizations there are a series of internal suppliers and customers. These form the so-called quality chains, the core of 'company-wide quality improvement';

- The internal customer/supplier relationships must be managed by interrogation, i.e. using a set of questions at every interface. Measurement of capability is vital;
- There are two distinct but interrelated aspects of quality, design and conformance to design. *Quality of design* is a measure of how well the product or service is designed to achieve the agreed requirements. *Quality of conformance to design* is the extent to which the product or service achieves the design. Organizations should assess how much time they spend doing the right things right.

Managing quality

- Asking the question 'Have we done the job correctly?' should be replaced by asking 'Are we capable of doing the job correctly?' and 'Do we continue to do the job correctly?'
- Asking the questions in the right order replaces a strategy of *detection* with one of *prevention*;
- Everything we do is a process, which is the transformation of a set of inputs into the desired outputs;
- In every organization there are some core business processes that must be performed especially well if the mission and objectives are to be achieved. They are defined by SIPOC suppliers-inputs-process-outputs-customers;
- Inspection is not *quality control*. The latter is the employment of activities and techniques to achieve and maintain the quality of a product, process or service;
- *Quality assurance* is the prevention of quality problems through planned and systematic activities.

Quality starts with understanding the needs

- Marketing processes establish the true requirements for the product or service. These must be communicated properly throughout the organization in the form of specifications;
- Excellent communications between customers and suppliers is the key to a total quality performance the organization must establish feedback systems, such as CRM, to gather customer information;
- Appropriate research techniques should be used to understand the 'market' and keep close to customers and maintain the external perspective.

Quality in all functions

• All members of an organization need to work together on organization-wide quality improvement. The co-operation of everyone at every interface is necessary to achieve improvements in performance, which can only happen if the top management is really committed.

Digitalization and transformation – key operational challenges functions

• New technologies and innovation acceleration are disrupting all traditional industries and markets. This leads to an ever-increasing need for Quality and Operational Excellence, especially for end-to-end business transformation and rapid, agile, flexible solution offerings and execution.

- The following are the key Q&OpEx challenges executives face that the authors have gathered from their research: embracing new technologies and business models; rethinking operations; incorporating digitalization/advanced technologies along the whole value chain; corporate culture transformation; effective change management; leadership and commitment.
- The six dimensions of data quality are: timeliness, validity, consistency, integrity, completeness and accuracy.

References

Beckford, J., Quality, a Critical Introduction (4th edn), Routledge, Oxford, 2017.

- Crosby, P.B., Quality is Free, McGraw-Hill, New York, 1979.
- Crosby, P.B., Quality without Tears, McGraw-Hill, New York, 1984.
- Dahlgaard, J.J., Kristensen, K. and Khanji, G.K., Fundamentals of Total Quality Management, Taylor & Francis, Oxford, 2013.
- Dale, B.G. (ed.), Managing Quality (5th edn), Philip Alan, Hemel Hempstead, 2007.
- Deming, W.E., Out of the Crisis, MIT Press, Cambridge, MA, 1982.
- Deming, W.E., The New Economies, MIT Press, Cambridge, MA, 1993.
- Feigenbaum, A.V., Total Quality Control (4th edn), McGraw-Hill, New York, 2004.
- Garvin, D.A., *Managing Quality: The Strategic Competitive Edge*, The Free Press (Macmillan), New York, 1988.
- Ishikawa, K. (translated by D.J. Lu), What Is Total Quality Control? The Japanese Way, Prentice-Hall, Englewood Cliffs, NJ, 1985.
- Juran, J.M. and DeFeo, J.A., *Juran's Quality Handbook* (6th edn), McGraw-Hill, New York, 2015.
- Kehoe, D.F., *The Fundamentals of Quality Management*, Springer (Chapman & Hall), London, 1996.
- Murphy, J.A., Quality in Practice (3rd edn), Gill and MacMillan, Dublin, 2000.
- Price, F., Right Every Time, Gower, Aldershot, 1990.
- Sebastian-Coleman, L., Measuring Data Quality for Ongoing Improvement: A Data Quality Assessment Framework, Morgan Kaufmann, New York, 2013.
- Stahl, M.J. (ed.), Perspectives in Total Quality, Quality Press, Milwaukee, 1999.



Chapter 2

Models and frameworks for Total Quality Management

Early TQM frameworks

In the early 1980s when organizations in the West seriously became interested in quality and its management there were many attempts to construct lists and frameworks to help this process.

In the West the famous American 'gurus' of quality management, such as W Edwards Deming, Joseph M Juran and Philip B Crosby, started to try to make sense of the labyrinth of issues involved, including the tremendous competitive performance of Japan's manufacturing industry. Deming and Juran had contributed to building Japan's success in the 1950s and 1960s, and it was appropriate that they should set down their ideas for how organizations could achieve success.

Deming had 14 points to help management as follows:

- 1 Create constancy of purpose towards improvement of product and service
- 2 Adopt the new philosophy. We can no longer live with commonly accepted levels of delays, mistakes, defective workmanship
- 3 Cease dependence on mass inspection. Require instead statistical evidence that quality is built in
- 4 End the practice of awarding business on the basis of price tag
- 5 Find problems. It is management's job to work continually on the system
- 6 Institute modern methods of training on the job
- 7 Institute modern methods of supervision of production workers. The responsibility of foremen must be changed from numbers to quality
- 8 Drive out fear so that everyone may work effectively for the company
- 9 Break down barriers between departments
- 10 Eliminate numerical goals, posters and slogans for the workforce asking for new levels of productivity without providing methods
- 11 Eliminate work standards that prescribe numerical quotas

- 12 Remove barriers that stand between the hourly worker and his right to pride of workmanship
- 13 Institute a vigorous programme of education and retraining
- 14 Create a structure in top management that will push every day on the previous 13 points

Juran's ten steps to quality improvement were:

- 1 Build awareness of the need and opportunity for improvement
- 2 Set goals for improvement
- 3 Organize to reach the goals (establish a quality council, identify problems, select projects, appoint teams, designate facilitators)
- 4 Provide training
- 5 Carry out projects to solve problems
- 6 Report progress
- 7 Give recognition
- 8 Keep score
- 9 Maintain momentum by making annual improvement part of the regular systems and processes of the company

Phil Crosby, who spent time as Quality Director of ITT, had 'four absolutes':

- Definition conformance to requirements
- System prevention
- Performance standard zero defects
- Measurement price of non-conformance

He also offered management 14 steps to improvement:

- 1 Make it clear that management is committed to quality
- 2 Form quality improvement teams with representatives from each department
- 3 Determine where current and potential quality problems lie
- 4 Evaluate the cost of quality and explain its use as a management tool
- 5 Raise the quality awareness and personal concern of all employees
- 6 Take actions to correct problems identified through previous steps
- 7 Establish a committee for the zero defects programme
- 8 Train supervisors to actively carry out their part of the quality improvement programme
- 9 Hold a 'zero defects day' to let all employees realize that there has been a change
- 10 Encourage individuals to establish improvement goals for themselves and their groups
- 11 Encourage employees to communicate to management the obstacles they face in attaining their improvement goals
- 12 Recognize and appreciate those who participate
- 13 Establish quality councils to communicate on a regular basis
- 14 Do it all over again to emphasize that the quality improvement programme never ends

A comparison

One way to compare directly the various approaches of the three American gurus is in Table 2.1, which shows the differences and similarities clarified under 12 different factors.

۱

	Crosby	Deming	Juran
Definition of quality	Conformance to requirements	A predictable degree of uniformity and dependability at low cost and suited to the market	Fitness for use
Degree of senior- management responsibility	Responsible for quality	Responsible for 94 per cent of quality problems	Less than 20 per cent of quality problems are due to workers
Performance standard/ motivation	Zero defects	Quality has many scales. Use statistics to measure performance in all areas. Critical of zero defects.	Avoid campaigns to do perfect work
General approach	Prevention, not inspection	Reduce variability by continuous improvement. Cease mass inspection.	General management approach to quality – especially 'human' elements
Structure	14 steps to quality improvement	14 points for management	Ten steps to quality improvement
Statistical process control (SPC)	Rejects statistically acceptable levels of quality	Statistical methods of quality control must be used.	Recommends SPLC but warns that it can lead to too-driven approach
Improvement basis	A 'Process,' not a programme. Improvement goals,	Continuous to reduce variation. Eliminate goals without methods	Project-by-project team approach. Set goals.
Teamwork	Quality improvement teams, quality councils.	Employee participation in decision-making. Break down barriers between departments.	Team and quality circle approach
Costs of quality	Cost of non- conformance. Quality is free	No optimum – continuous improvement	Quality is not free – there is an optimum
Purchasing and goods received	State requirements. Supplier is extension of business. Most faults due to purchasers themselves	Inspection too late – allows defects to enter system through AQLs Statistical evidence and control charts required.	Problems are complex. Carry out formal surveys.
Vendor rating	Yes <i>and</i> buyers. Quality audits useless.	No – critical of most systems	Yes, but help supplier improve.
Single sources of supply		Yes.	No – can neglect to sharpen competitive edge.

Table 2.1 The American quality gurus compared



Our understanding of 'total quality management' developed through the 1980s, and in earlier editions of John Oakland's books on TQM, a broad perspective was given, linking the TQM approaches to the direction, policies and strategies of the business or organization. These ideas were captured in a basic framework – the TQM Model (Figure 2.1) – which was widely promoted in the UK through the activities of the UK Department of Trade and Industry (DTI) 'Quality Campaign' and 'Managing into the 90s' programmes. These approaches brought together a number of components of the quality approach, including quality circles (teams), problem-solving and statistical process control (*tools*) and quality systems, such as BS5750 and later ISO 9000 (systems). It was recognized that *culture* played an enormous role in whether organizations were successful or not with their TQM approaches. Good *communications*, of course, were seen to be vital to success, but the most important of all was *commitment*, not only from the senior management but from everyone in the organization, particularly those operating directly at the customer interface. The customer/supplier or 'quality chains' were the core of this TQM model.

Many companies and organizations in the public sector found this simple framework useful, and it helped groups of senior managers throughout the world get started with TQM. They key was to integrate the TQM activities, based on the framework, into the business or organization strategy, and this has always been a key component of the authors' approach.

Quality award models

Starting in Japan with the Deming Prize, companies started to get interested in quality frameworks that could be used essentially in three ways:

- i) as the basis for awards
- ii) as the basis for a form of 'self-assessment'
- iii) as a descriptive 'what-needs-to-be-in-place' model

The earliest approach to a *total* quality audit process is that established in the Japanese-based 'Deming Prize,' which is based on a highly demanding and intrusive process. The categories of this award were established in 1950 when the Union of Japanese Scientists and Engineers (JUSE) instituted the prize(s) for 'contributions to quality and dependability of product' (www.juse.or.jp/deming).

This now defines TQM as 'a set of systematic activities carried out by the entire organization to effectively and efficiently achieve the organization's objectives so as to provide products and services with a level of quality that satisfies customers, at the appropriate time and price.'

As the Deming Award guidelines say, there is no easy success at this time of constant change, and no organization can expect to build excellent quality management systems just by solving problems given by others:

They need to think on their own, set lofty goals and drive themselves to challenge for achieving those goals. For these organizations that introduce and implement TQM in this manner, the Deming Prize aims to be used as a tool for improving and transforming their business management.

The recognition that total quality management is a broad culture change vehicle with internal and external focus embracing behavioural and service issues, as well as quality assurance and process control, prompted the United States to develop in the late 1980s one of the most famous and widely used frameworks, the Malcolm Baldrige National Quality Award (MBNQA). The award itself, which is composed of two solid crystal prisms 14 inches high, is presented annually to recognize companies in the USA that have excelled in quality management and quality achievement. But it is not the award itself or even the fact that it is presented each year by the President of the USA that has attracted the attention of most organizations, it is the excellent framework for TQM and organizational self-assessments.

The Baldrige Performance Excellence Program, as it is now known, aims to:

- Help improve organizational performance practices, capabilities and results;
- Facilitate communication and sharing of best practices information;
- Serve as a working tool for understanding and managing performance and for guiding, planning and opportunities for learning.

The award criteria are built upon a set of inter-related core values and concepts:

- Visionary leadership
- Customer-driven excellence
- Organizational and personal learning
- Valuing employees and partners
- Agility
- Focus on the future
- Managing for innovation
- Management by fact
- Public responsibility and citizenship

- Focus on results and creating value
- Systems developments

Organizations that apply for the Malcolm Baldrige National Quality Award are judged by an independent board of examiners. Recipients are selected based on achievement and improvement in seven areas, known as the Baldrige Criteria for Performance Excellence:

- 1 Leadership: How upper management leads the organization and how the organization leads within the community
- 2 Strategy: How the organization establishes and plans to implement strategic directions
- 3 Customers: How the organization builds and maintains strong, lasting relationships with customers
- 4 Measurement, analysis, and knowledge management: How the organization uses data to support key processes and manage performance
- 5 Workforce: How the organization empowers and involves its workforce
- 6 Operations: How the organization designs, manages and improves key processes
- 7 Results: How the organization performs in terms of customer satisfaction, finances, human resources, supplier and partner performance, operations, governance and social responsibility, and how the organization compares to its competitors

This 'Organizational Profile' is supported by the Core Values and Concept for the business/ organization.

Each year the Baldrige Excellence Framework is available for the business/non-profit, healthcare and education industries. The criteria focus on managing all components of an organization as a whole, cybersecurity risks and understanding the role of risk management within a systems perspective of organizational performance management.

Figure 2.2 shows how the framework's system connects and integrates the categories. The main driver is the senior executive leadership, which creates the values, goals and systems and guides the sustained pursuit of quality and performance objectives. The system includes a set of well-defined and designed processes for meeting the organization's direction and performance requirements. Measures of progress provide a results-oriented basis for channelling actions to deliver ever-improving customer values and organization performance. The overall goal is the delivery of customer satisfaction and market success leading, in turn, to excellent business results. The seven criteria categories are further divided into items and areas to address. These are described in some detail in the 'Criteria for Performance Excellence' available from the US National Institute of Standards and Technology (NIST), in Gaithersburg USA (https://asq.org/quality-resources/malcolm-baldrige-national-quality-award).

The Baldrige Award led to a huge interest around the world in quality award frameworks that could be used to carry out self-assessment and to build an organization-wide approach to quality, which was truly integrated into the business strategy. It was followed in Europe in the early 1990s by the launch of the European Quality Award by the European Foundation for Quality Management (EFQM). This framework was the first one to include 'Business Results' and to really represent the whole business model.

Like the Baldrige, the 'EFQM Excellence Model,' as it is now known, recognizes that processes are the means by which an organization harnesses and releases the talents of its people to produce results/performance. Moreover, improvement in performance can be achieved only by improving the processes by involving the people. This simple model is shown in Figure 2.3.









Figure 2.4 displays graphically the 'non-prescriptive' principles of the full Excellence Model. Essentially customer results, people (employee) results and favourable society results are achieved through leadership driving strategy; people; partnerships and resources and processes, products and systems, which lead ultimately to excellence in key results – the enablers deliver the results, which in turn drive learning, creativity and innovation. The EFQM have provided a weighting for each of the criteria, which may be used in scoring self-assessments and making awards (see Chapter 8).

It is noted that in late 2019 the EFQM presented a significantly revised model, Figure 2.5. However, as the authors of this book prefer the model described in Figure 2.4 for use as a platform for self-assessment (see Chapter 8), we will continue using this framework.

Through usage and research, the Baldrige and EFQM Excellence models have continued to grow in stature since their inception. They were recognized as descriptive holistic business models, rather than just quality models and mutated into frameworks for (Business) Excellence.

The NIST and EFQM have worked together well over recent years to learn from each other's experience in administering awards and supporting programmes and from organizations that have used their frameworks 'in anger.'

The EFQM publications on the Excellence Model capture much of this learning and provide a framework that organizations can use to follow ten steps:

- 1 Set direction through leadership
- 2 Establish the results they want to achieve
- 3 Establish and drive the strategy
- 4 Set up and manage appropriately their approach to processes, people, partnerships and resources
- 5 Deploy the approaches to ensure achievement of the strategies and thereby the results



- 6 Assess the 'business' performance, in terms of customers, their own people and society results
- 7 Assess the achievements of key performance results
- 8 Review performance for strengths and areas for improvement
- 9 Innovate to deliver performance improvements
- 10 Learn more about the effects of the enablers on the results

The four Ps and three Cs of TQM – a model for TQM

We have seen in Chapter 1 how *processes* are the key to delivering quality of products and services to customers. It is clear from Figure 2.4 that processes are a key linkage between the enablers of *planning* (leadership driving policy and strategy, partnerships and resources), through *people* into the *performance* of people society customers and key outcomes.

These 'four Ps' form the basis of a simple model for TQM and provide the 'hard management necessities' to take organizations successfully into the 21st century. These form the structure of the remainder of this book. From the early TQM frameworks, however, we must not underestimate the importance of the three Cs – *Culture*, *Communication* and *Commitment*. The TQM model is complete when these 'soft outcomes' are integrated into the four P's framework to move organizations successfully forward (Figure 2.6).

This TQM model, based on the extensive work done in and on organizations, provides a simple framework for excellent performance, covering all angles and aspects of an organization and its operation.

Performance is achieved using a business excellence approach and by planning the involvement of people in the improvement of processes. This has to include:

- *Planning* the development and deployment of policies and strategies, setting up appropriate partnerships and resources and designing in quality;
- *Performance* establishing a performance measure framework a 'balanced scorecard' for the organization; carrying out self-assessment, audits, reviews and benchmarking;
- *Processes* understanding, management, design and re-design, quality management systems, continuous improvement;
- *People* managing the human resources, culture change, teamwork, communications, innovation and learning.

Wrapping around all this to ensure successful implementation is, of course, effective leadership and commitment, the subject of the next chapter.





In the UK, the Chartered Quality Institute (CQI) published a document by two of the authors, entitled *The New Quality Professional* (www.quality.org). The purpose of that publication was to present the case for a change in the role and value delivered by the quality profession. It also outlined a vision for the quality profession as a compelling strategic business management function that helps organizations to sustain and thrive.

This vision comprised a statement of professional brand, a description of a unique skill set (Quality Leadership Skills framework – Figure 2.7) and key factors that must be achieved to deliver this vision.

This framework was intended to bring about change in the behaviour of all quality professionals, irrespective of position, the idea being that everyone brings quality behaviours to the work they do, whether that is as the Chief Quality Officer or a newly qualified quality engineer at the foot of their career ladder. This framework was designed for all those intent on bringing about change in their behaviour and in the organizations in which they serve. We will look at it again in some more detail under quality leadership aspects in Chapter 3 and quality appointments in Chapter 16.

Chapter highlights

Early TQM frameworks

- There have been many attempts to construct lists and frameworks to help organizations understand how to implement good quality management;
- The 'quality gurus' in America, Deming, Juran and Crosby, offered management 14 points, ten steps and four absolutes (plus 14 steps) respectively. These similar but different approaches may be compared using a number of factors, including definition of quality, degree of senior management responsibility and general approach;

• The understanding of quality developed and, in Europe and other parts of the world, the author's early TQM model, based on a customer/supplier chain core surrounded by systems, tools and teams, linked through culture, communications and commitment, gained wide usage.

Quality award models

- Quality frameworks may be used as the basis for awards for a form of 'self-assessment' or as a description of what should be in place
- The Deming Prize in Japan was the first formal quality award framework established by JUSE in 1950. The examination viewpoints include: top management leadership and strategies; TQM frameworks, concepts and values; QA and management systems; human resources; utilization of information; scientific methods; organizational powers; realization of corporate objectives
- The USA Baldrige Award aims to promote performance excellence and improvement in competitiveness through a framework of seven categories, which are used to assess organizations: leadership; strategic planning; customer and market focus; information and analysis; human resource focus; process management; business results
- The European (EFQM) Excellence Model operates through a simple framework of performance improvement through involvement of people in improving processes
- The full Excellence Model is a non-prescriptive framework for achieving good results customers, people, society, key performance through the enablers leadership, strategy, people, processes, products, systems, partnerships and resources. The framework includes feedback loops of learning, innovation and creativity and proposed weightings for assessment
- It is noted that a revised model was published by EFQM in 2019, but the authors prefer the 'original' Excellence Model in practice

The four Ps and three Cs – model for TQM

- *Planning*, *People* and *Processes* are the keys to delivering quality products and services to customers and generally improving overall *Performance*. These four Ps form a structure of 'hard management necessities' for a simple TQM model, which forms the structure of this book
- The three Cs of culture, communication and commitment provide the glue or 'soft outcomes' of the model, which will take organizations successfully into the 21st century
- The Chartered Quality Institute (CQI) have outlined a vision for the quality profession as a compelling strategic business management function that helps organizations to sustain and thrive. This vision comprised a statement of professional brand, a description of a unique skill set (Quality Leadership Skills framework) and key factors that must be achieved to deliver this vision

References

BQF (British Quality Foundation), *The Model in Practice and the Model in Practice* 2, London, BQF, 2000 and 2002.

Chartered Quality Institute (CQI), The New Quality Professional (www.quality.org), 2017.

- EFQM (European Foundation for Quality Management), *The EFQM Excellence Model*, Brussels, EFQM, 2019.
- National Institute of Standard and Technology, USA Malcolm Baldrige National Quality Award, Criteria for Performance Excellence, NIST, Gaithersburg, 2020.
- Oakland, J.S. and Marosszeky, M., Total Construction Management, Routledge, Oxford, 2017.
- Pyzdek, T. and Keller, P., The Handbook for Quality Management: A Complete Guide to Operational Excellence (2nd edn), ASQ, Milwaukee, 2013.
- Summers, D.C.S., Quality Management (2nd edn), Prentice Hall, London, 2008.





Leadership and commitment

The Total Quality Management approach

'What is quality management?' Something that is best left to the experts is often the answer to this question. But this is avoiding the issue, because it allows executives and managers to opt out. Quality is too important to leave to the 'quality professionals'; it cannot be achieved on a company or organization-wide basis if it is left to the so-called experts. Equally dangerous, however, are the uninformed who try to follow their natural instincts because they 'know what quality is when they see it.' Usually this belies a narrow product quality focus and can only yield limited benefits. This type of intuitive approach can lead to serious attitude problems, which do no more than reflect the understanding and knowledge of quality that are present in an organization.

The organization that believes that the traditional 'quality control' techniques and the way they have always been used will resolve their quality problems may be misguided. Employing more inspectors, tightening up standards, developing correction, repair and rework teams do not improve quality. Traditionally, quality has been regarded as the responsibility of a Quality (Assurance or Control) Department and still it has not yet been recognized in some organizations that many quality problems originate in the commercial, engineering, service or administrative areas.

Total quality management is far more than shifting the responsibility of *detection* of problems from the customer to the producer. It requires a comprehensive approach that must first be recognized and then implemented if the rewards are to be realized. Today's highly complex, technological and rapidly changing business environment is such that managers must plan strategically to maintain a hold on market share, let alone increase it. In many companies quality problems have been found to seriously erode margins due to the cost of rectifying defective output. We know that low cost operations have dominated life during the last decade or more, but consumers still place a higher value on quality than on loyalty to